
     

 
Notice of a public meeting of 
 

Decision Session - Executive Leader, Policy, Strategy and 
Partnerships 

 
To: Councillors Douglas 

 
Date: Wednesday, 23 April 2025 

 
Time: 10.00 am 

 
Venue: West Offices - Station Rise, York YO1 6GA 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence    
 To receive and note apologies for absence. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point in the meeting, Members and co-opted members are 

asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary interest, or other 
registerable interest, they might have in respect of business on 
this agenda, if they have not already done so in advance on the 
Register of Interests. The disclosure must include the nature of 
the interest. 
 
An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it 
becomes apparent to the member during the meeting. 
 
(1) Members must consider their interests, and act according to 
the following: 
 
 
 



 

 
(2) Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to the Member 
concerned or their spouse/partner. 
 
(3) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this restriction 
applies to them. A failure to comply with these requirements is a 
criminal offence under section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992. 
 

3. Minutes   (Pages 7 - 8) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the previous Decision 

Type of Interest   You Must  
  

 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  Disclose the interest, not participate 
in the discussion or vote, and leave 
the meeting unless you have a 
dispensation. 

 Other Registrable Interests 
(Directly Related)   
OR  
Non-Registrable Interests (Directly 
Related)  

Disclose the interest; speak on the 
item only if the public are also 
allowed to speak, but otherwise not 
participate in the discussion or 
vote, and leave the meeting unless 
you have a dispensation. 

 Other Registrable Interests 
(Affects)  
OR  
Non-Registrable Interests (Affects) 

 Disclose the interest; remain in the 
meeting, participate and vote 
unless the matter affects the 
financial interest or well-being:  
(a) to a greater extent than it affects 
the financial interest or well-being 
of a majority of inhabitants of the 
affected ward; and  
(b) a reasonable member of the 
public knowing all the facts would 
believe that it would affect your 
view of the wider public interest.  
In which case, speak on the item 
only if the public are also allowed to 
speak, but otherwise do not 
participate in the discussion or 
vote, and leave the meeting unless 
you have a dispensation. 



 

Sessions - Executive Leader, Policy, Strategy and Partnerships 
held on 19 March 2025. 
 

4. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 

registered to speak can do so. Members of the public may speak 
on agenda items or on matters within the remit of the committee. 
Please note that our registration deadlines are set as 2 working 
days before the meeting, in order to facilitate the management of 
public participation at our meetings. The deadline for registering 
at this meeting is 5:00pm on Thursday 17 April 2025. 
 
To register to speak please visit 
 
www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings to fill in an online 
registration form. If you have any questions about the registration 
form or the meeting, please contact Democratic Services. 
Contact details can be found at the foot of this agenda. 
 
Webcasting of Public Meetings 
 
Please note that, subject to available resources, this meeting will 
be webcast including any registered public speakers who have 
given their permission. The meeting can be viewed live and on 
demand at www.york.gov.uk/webcasts. 
 

5. Plan for CYC to cease sharing information on 
X, formerly known as Twitter   

(Pages 9 - 30) 

 This report sets out the case for reviewing the City of York 
Council’s use of X (formerly known as Twitter), in response to 
significant changes to the platform’s functionality, credibility, and 
reach. 
 

6. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Executive Leader considers urgent 

under the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 
 
 
 

http://www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings
http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts


 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports and 

 For receiving reports in other formats 
 

Contact details are set out above. 
 
 

Alternative formats 

If you require this document in an alternative language or format (e.g. large 
print, braille, Audio, BSL or Easy Read) you can: 

 

Email us at:  cycaccessteam@york.gov.uk 

 

Call us: 01904 551550 and customer services will pass your 
request onto the Access Team. 

 

Use our BSL Video Relay Service: 
www.york.gov.uk/BSLInterpretingService 

Select ‘Switchboard’ from the menu. 
 

 

We can also translate into the following languages: 

 
 

mailto:cycaccessteam@york.gov.uk
http://www.york.gov.uk/BSLInterpretingService


City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Decision Session - Executive Leader, Policy, 
Strategy and Partnerships 

Date 19 March 2025 

Present Councillors Douglas 

 
 

15. Apologies for Absence  
 

There were no apologies.  
 
 

16. Declarations of Interest  
 

The Executive Leader was asked to declare at this point in the meeting any 
disclosable pecuniary interest or other registerable interest they might have 
in respect of business on the agenda if they had not already done so in 
advance on the Register of Interests. The Executive Leader had none to 
declared. 

 
 

17. Minutes  
 

Resolved: That the minutes of the Executive Leader, Policy, Strategy and 
Partnerships meeting held on 20 November 2024 be approved and then 
signed by the Executive Leader as a correct record. 

 
 

18. Public Participation  
 

It was reported that there had been no registrations to speak at the meeting 
under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme. 

 
 
19. Corporate Peer Challenge Final Report  

 
The Chief Officer for Human Resources and Support Services introduced 
the report. She confirmed that the Council had received its second visit 
from the Local Government Association (LGA) in December 2024, that had 
involved reviewing the Council’s progress against the recommendations set 
out in the Corporate Peer Challenge and the Corporate Improvement Plan. 
She confirmed that the LGA noted the Councils progress, including the 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



Council’s work on engagement with partners, the Council’s corporate 
management restructure, and how the Council was managing its objectives 
against its available resources.  
 
The Executive Leader welcomed the work undertaken in the Corporate 
Peer Challenge and the positive feedback to the Councils actions. She 
noted that it had provided the Council an opportunity to review its ways of 
working and improve the customer experience. She confirmed that the 
Council would continue to seek to improve within the Council’s limited 
resources. She welcomed the positive response regarding the restructure, 
the Council’s engagement with the combined authority, and its budget 
setting processes.  
 
Resolved:  
 

i. Noted and formerly approved the Local Government 
Association (LGA) peer teams final report following their 
second visit to York to conclude the Council’s Corporate Peer 
Challenge (Annex 1 of the report) 

ii. Noted the progress made on the Corporate Improvement Action 
Plan to date (Annex 2of the report.) 

 
Reason:        To make the progress made against the LGA peer review and 

corporate Improvement Action Plan available to the public and 
confirm to the LGA the Council’s approval of the final report.  

 
 
 
 
 

Cllr Douglas, Chair 
[The meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 10.12 am]. 

Page 6



Page 1 of 14 

 
 

Meeting: Executive Decision-Making Session 

Meeting date: 23/04/25 

Report of: Chief Strategy Officer 

Portfolio of: Leader, Executive Member for Policy, Strategy 
and Partnerships 

 

Decision Report: No longer using X (formerly 
known as Twitter) 

 
Summary 
This report sets out the case for reviewing the City of York Council’s use 
of X (formerly known as Twitter), in response to significant changes to 
the platform’s functionality, credibility, and reach. Since its takeover, X 
has removed independent fact-checking, amplified misinformation, and 
promoted divisive content. These changes are increasingly at odds with 
the Council’s values of inclusion, trust, and respectful communication. At 
the same time, resident engagement with council content on X has 
sharply declined, limiting its effectiveness as a channel for public 
information. This report outlines the risks and opportunities of stepping 
away from routine use of X, while ensuring continued capacity to meet 
the Council’s legal duty to communicate during emergencies. It invites 
the Leader to consider whether the council should formally end its 
regular presence on X and shift focus to more trusted, higher-performing 
channels. 

 
Subject of Report 
 
1. This report sets out the benefits and challenges of the council 

continuing to use X, formerly known as Twitter.  It includes a plan 
to encourage residents to seek information from the remaining 
council channels and explains what will happen in the event of an 
incident, when the council has a duty to “warn and inform”.   
 

2. It invites the Leader to decide whether the council should continue 
to publish content and engage residents on X, in the context of X’s 
decision to end independent fact checking, and declining 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



Page 2 of 14 

engagement following changes to the X algorithm that defines the 
content which is shared with resident accounts. 
 

3. Elected members own X accounts are out-of-scope of this report, 
and it remains a matter of personal choice for members if they 
wish to continue using X. 

 

Benefits and Challenges 
 
4. There are several benefits related to no longer using X as the 

council’s key channel to engage and communicate with residents: 
 

a) Reputation Management: X can be unpredictable, and 
controversial and negative events can quickly escalate. 
Recently, X has been criticised for amplifying extreme views, 
exacerbating tensions in local communities across the UK. 
To avoid the risk of miscommunication or misinformation 
gathering momentum, the council could choose to no longer 
post content on its channels, especially as there are not the 
resources to properly monitor and manage council accounts 
out of hours. 

 
b) Misinformation: The council regularly shares important 

updates, public service announcements, or crisis 
management information on X, together with other social 
media platforms. However, the fast-paced 24/7 nature of X 
contributes to the spread of misinformation or 
misinterpretations which is no longer independently fact-
checked. This can make it challenging to ensure clear and 
accurate communication with residents, particularly out of 
hours. 
 

c) Declining engagement: The council has noticed a 
sustained and continued drop in engagement in X posts, 
particularly since the change in algorithms.  This negates any 
benefit from the large number of followers – i.e. followers are 
no longer being served the content. 

 
5. The benefits of the council remaining on X are set out below.  A 

plan has been prepared to manage these benefits: 
 

a) Incident communications: X is an instant platform for 
sharing news, emergency alerts, and public service 
announcements. The City of York Council has a statutory 

Page 8



Page 3 of 14 

duty to “warn and inform” residents during emergencies as 
part of its duties under the Civil Contingencies Act.  It can 
quickly inform residents about important issues, such as 
weather warnings, road closures, or local events causing 
traffic issues.  To manage incident communications, it is 
recommended that the council retains only the corporate 
account, which is only used during incidents, following 
approval by Silver Command). 
 

b) Broader engagement: X provides access to over 49k 
followers on the corporate CYC account (and more from 
service accounts). This includes those who might not follow 
traditional council communications and the media. The plan 
to encourage the audience to follow other council channels is 
below. 
 

c) Trusted source: The @CityofYork account is a recognised, 
established and trusted source of accurate information.  By 
closing the account, the account name would become 
available for anyone to adopt and could be used by people 
pretending to the City of York Council, potentially for scams 
and monetary gain.  To avoid this, the council will continue to 
own the account, although no longer use it, unless directed 
by Silver Command. 

 
Policy Basis for Decision 
 
6. Developing different ways for the council to engage local people is 

an action in the Council Plan 2023-2027.    
 

7. By choosing to no longer routinely share information on X, the 
council is demonstrating how it values everyone in the city and 
making a clear statement it no longer tolerates the abuse, 
misinformation and extreme views that X has become synonymous 
with.  
 

Financial Strategy Implications 
 

8. There are no immediate financial impacts associated with no 
longer posting on X.  However, for routine campaigns (i.e. non 
incident) there could be an expectation to increase 
communications spend to reach broader audiences currently 

Page 9



Page 4 of 14 

contacted via X.  This will need to be carefully managed, with free 
of charge channels used instead. 

 

Recommendation and Reasons 

 
9. The Leader is invited to consider the content of this report and: 

 
a) Approve the Council no longer shares information on its 

corporate X (formerly known as Twitter) account 
@CityofYork, unless directed by Silver Command. 

 
b) If approval is received for point 9a, approve the plan (Annex 

A) to encourage residents to register for information or follow 
other council social media channels, whilst closing all council 
X accounts that do not respond to an incident. 

 

 
Background 
 
10. X, formerly known as Twitter, is the most prolific of all social media 

platforms, partially driven by the reputation of its owner Elon Musk.  
X currently has 611 million global active users, although this has 
declined by 33m since Musk acquired X for £44bn.  Over the past 
few years, Musk has reorganised how the platform functions, with 
sweeping changes including stopping independent fact checking 
and changing the algorithm that serves content to accounts.  
 

11. There are several high-profile examples of where X has 
deliberately interfered in right wing/extreme views, exacerbating 
and fuelling community tensions.  This includes amplifying 
polarising views through the algorithm (which has created an echo 
chamber), sharing false narratives, becoming a battleground for 
political controversy, particularly during elections, public shaming 
through the cancel culture, escalating conflict during crises, and 
echoing extremist views.   
 

12. X’s lack of moderation and anonymity has been linked to harmful 
content proliferation.  High profile examples include allowing 
Andrew Tate to return to the platform, with extremist accounts1 

                                      
1 Far-Right Extremist Accounts Surging on Mainstream Platforms - Global Project Against Hate and 
Extremism 

Page 10

https://globalextremism.org/post/far-right-extremist-accounts-surging-on-mainstream-platforms/
https://globalextremism.org/post/far-right-extremist-accounts-surging-on-mainstream-platforms/


Page 5 of 14 

surging and Anonymous2 now attempting to reduce extremism by 
shutting down 5k accounts. 
 

13. In the UK, the top six social media channels ranked by popularity 
(measured by active accounts) are below: 

 

Ranking Platform General audience 
summary (unable to verify 
York audience) 

CYC 
followers 

1 Facebook Broad demographic, popular 
with adults aged 25-54 

19k 

2 Instagram Popular with younger 
audiences (18-34 years old), 
especially for visual content. 

4.7k 

3 X Attracts people aged 18-49, 
with a heavy presence of 
public figures, journalists, 
and those involved in current 
affairs 

49k 

4 YouTube Broad demographic, 
especially 18-49-year-olds. 

1.5k 
subscribers 

5 TikTok Primarily younger audiences 
(16-24 years old). 

The council 
does not 
have an 
account 

6 Linked-in Professionals, business 
owners, and organisations. 

15.8k 

 
14. This information was partially sourced from Chat GPT who 

combined information from Statista, Ofcom and the Pew Research 
Centre 
 

15. There are challenges with all social media accounts, with 
Facebook / Instagram and TikTok all in the top six of social media 
platforms and all having issues ranging from security to reputation 
and creating echo chambers through different algorithms.   The 
challenges set out above for social media could equally apply to 
these social media platforms, however, currently, they do not have 
the same profile or damaging reputation. 
 

                                      
2 Anonymous aims to reduce extremism by shutting down 5,000 Twitter accounts - UMA Technology 

Page 11

https://umatechnology.org/anonymous-aims-to-reduce-extremism-by-shutting-down-5000-twitter-accounts/


Page 6 of 14 

16. The council is currently undertaking a channel review of the 
different channels different services use and will continue to 
maintain a watching brief on all social media platforms as it takes 
every opportunity to engage with residents in as meaningful and 
cost-effective way as possible. 

 

Preferred council channels 

17. The budget consultation3 asked residents to confirm how they 
would like to receive updates from the council.  Only 8% of 
residents indicated X, with 50% preferring the resident update (e-
newsletter).  Over the next few months, the council will encourage 
more residents to register for updates from the e-newsletter. 

 

 

18. In addition to promoting sign-ups to the council’s e-newsletter, a 
six-month research period will be undertaken to explore alternative 
channels that could help fill the gap left by X, as outlined in this 
report. This review will include, but not be limited to, emerging 
social platforms such as BlueSky, and established broadcast tools 
like WhatsApp, to assess their potential for reaching and engaging 
residents effectively. 

Performance of @CityofYork / X account 

19. An analysis of how the council’s corporate X account, compared 
with the corporate Facebook (FB) account has performed over the 

                                      
3 https://data.yorkopendata.org/dataset/budget-consultation/resource/c996e8d0-bd46-4dee-a9ed-
cd03cc575ae3  

Page 12

https://data.yorkopendata.org/dataset/budget-consultation/resource/c996e8d0-bd46-4dee-a9ed-cd03cc575ae3
https://data.yorkopendata.org/dataset/budget-consultation/resource/c996e8d0-bd46-4dee-a9ed-cd03cc575ae3


Page 7 of 14 

last 5 years is below.  This clearly shows when the algorithm 
changed and the decline in engagement since then, which has 
continued. 
 

20. Residents are no longer engaging in X content in the way they did, 
for many because the content is no longer served to them, and 
instead residents are engaging much more in the corporate 
Facebook (FB) account. 

 

 

 

Other public bodies 

21. An analysis of whether other councils and public bodies have 
made similar moves away from X, and if so, what their approach 
has been, is set out below.    This has helped inform the plan in 
Annex A: 

 

 -

 100,000

 200,000

 300,000

 400,000

 500,000

 600,000

 700,000

2020 - 2021 2021 - 2022 2022 - 2023 2023 - 2024 2024 - 2025

Engagements

Twitter FB

 -

 2,000,000

 4,000,000

 6,000,000

 8,000,000

 10,000,000

 12,000,000

2020 -
2021

2021 -
2022

2022 -
2023

2023 -
2024

2024 -
2025

Post impressions

Twitter FB

 -

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

 14,000

2020 -
2021

2021 -
2022

2022 -
2023

2023 -
2024

2024 -
2025

Replies

Twitter FB

Page 13



Page 8 of 14 

 

Organisation Account    
still ‘live’ 

Pinned post informing followers Explain 
in bio 

Media 
release 
Sent? 

Devon 
County 
Council 

Yes but 
no recent 
posts 

Yes- “This account is not monitored. 
Our website is full of useful information: 
http://devon.gov.uk. Or if you need to 
get in touch, contact us …” 

Yes unknown 

North Wales 
Police 

Yes but 
no recent 
posts 

No No media 
statement 

Southampton 
City Council  

Yes but 
no recent 
posts 

Yes- “Due to recent changes on X, 
Southampton City Council no longer 
uses this platform, and our accounts 
are not monitored. Click the LinkTree in 
our bio to engage with us on other 
platforms and to the read the Leader's 
full statement about this change. 
Thank you for your support.” 

Yes  Yes 

NHS 
confederation 

Yes but 
no recent 
posts 

Yes- “As of 27 January, we will no 
longer be posting on X. To keep up to 
date with our work, follow us on 
Bluesky, connect with us on LinkedIn 
and bookmark our website.” 

Yes unknown 

South 
Lanarkshire 

Council  

Yes and 
post alerts 
and 
updates  

Yes- “South Lanarkshire Council will 
now only use X for emergency alerts 
and other urgent information. Read 
more in the View https://orlo.uk/RYfma. 

Yes Yes 

Renfrewshire 
Council  

Yes but 
no recent 
posts 

Yes- “We are moving to Bluesky and 
will no longer use this X account. 
Follow our new channel to keep up to 
date with the latest news and updates 
from Renfrewshire Council.  

Yes Yes 

Mid Yorks 
NHS 

Yes no 
recent 
posts 
(other 
than 
answering 
one 
question) 

Yes- “After careful consideration, we 
have made the decision to step away 
from actively posting on X. You can 
read more in our statement below, or 

by visiting our website 
https://bit.ly/3ZQaAPv 

No Yes 

 

Page 14

https://x.com/devoncc?lang=en
https://x.com/devoncc?lang=en
https://x.com/devoncc?lang=en
https://t.co/vF2gYrGhBb
https://x.com/NWPolice
https://x.com/NWPolice
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/x-twitter-elon-musk-southport-riots-north-wales-police-b2628083.html
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/x-twitter-elon-musk-southport-riots-north-wales-police-b2628083.html
https://x.com/SouthamptonCC
https://x.com/SouthamptonCC
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/news/article/southampton-city-council-to-cease-use-of-x/#:~:text=Southampton%20City%20Council%20has%20announced,as%20a%20channel%20for%20communicating&text=The%20decision%20to%20leave%20X,end%20of%20independent%20fact-checking
https://x.com/nhsconfed
https://x.com/nhsconfed
https://x.com/SouthLanCouncil/with_replies
https://x.com/SouthLanCouncil/with_replies
https://x.com/SouthLanCouncil/with_replies
https://t.co/iVb6BGlol0
https://www.southlanarkshire.gov.uk/view/news/article/2480/council_steps_back_from_x_social_media_platform
https://x.com/rencouncil?lang=en
https://x.com/rencouncil?lang=en
https://www.renfrewshire.gov.uk/article/14362/Council-to-stop-using-X-and-move-to-Bluesky
https://x.com/midyorkshirenhs
https://x.com/midyorkshirenhs
https://t.co/CUmy3WGP70
https://www.midyorks.nhs.uk/news/a-statement-about-x-3759


Page 9 of 14 

The Local Government Association  

 
22. The LGA shared their latest position at a recent webinar about 

crisis communications and tackling misinformation, learning from 
last summer’s riots.  Their position has helped inform the plan to 
manage a move away from X for the City of York Council, which 
ultimately is a decision for its Executive: 
 

23. “While it's true that there are significant concerns about 
governance, misinformation, and the platform's direction under its 
current ownership, X still remains one of the most effective 
platforms for reaching a broad and diverse audience as part of a 
mix of channels. Despite the exodus of some organisations, X still 
maintains a substantial user base in the UK, which cannot be 
easily replicated on other platforms. I am sure members will agree 
this reach is crucial for public sector communications, ensuring 
that our messages can be disseminated widely and quickly 
especially at times of crisis.  
 

24. Reducing our presence or completely withdrawing could mean we 
miss out on key interactions and feedback from the public. Instead 
of an either/or approach, a strategy of coexistence where we 
continue to use X alongside exploring and increasing our presence 
on other platforms would be beneficial. We have recently opened 
up profiles on BlueSky and WhatsApp. This approach allows us to 
keep our established audience while expanding our reach on 
emerging platforms. 
 

25. We should monitor the situation closely, particularly concerning 
misinformation and platform governance.  
 

26. However, pulling out entirely might not be the best strategy given 
the current landscape. Instead, enhancing our content moderation 
practices and adapting our communication strategies to address 
these issues could be more effective.  
 

27. We should also listen to our audiences – if there was an 
overwhelming and representative call for us to review our 
presence on any platform then of course we should consider their 
views. So, for now the LGA’s position is to maintain a presence on 
X while also diversifying our social media strategy. This allows us 
to continue engaging with the public while we explore the benefits 
of other platforms.” 

Page 15



Page 10 of 14 

 

Plan to cease sharing information on X  

28. The plan to cease sharing information on X is in Annex A and has 
been developed to support the council move away from X, and no 
longer post content or engage with residents, unless directed by 
Silver Command. 
 

29. On 25/06/25, all council X accounts will be removed from the 
website and other digital communications, so it is clear it no longer 
is an option for residents to hear from, or engage with, the council.   
 

30. The corporate X account (@CityofYork) will remain open, with a 
message in the bio noting it will no longer be actively used unless 
during an incident. 
 
 

Consultation Analysis 
 
31. City partners and the LGA have been approached for their views 

about using X as a channel to share council information.  Some 
city partners have reported that although they have continued to 
maintain a presence, they are no longer active – retaining the 
account to prevent others from using the account name for their 
own gain. 
 

32. Some residents have contacted the Council through other existing 
channels to raise their concerns about City of York Council’s 
continued presence on X, and how this doesn’t match the 
Council’s values.  
 

33. A channel review about how residents get and engage with 
information about the council is underway.  This review will further 
inform the plan in Annex A. 
 

 

Options Analysis and Evidential Basis 
 
34. The options to no longer continuing to post information on X are 
 

1. Full withdrawal. Cease posting and deactivate all council X 
accounts including the corporate @CityofYork handle. This would 
entirely remove the council's presence on the platform. 
 

Page 16



Page 11 of 14 

2. Partial withdrawal. Cease posting content on all council X 
accounts but retain ownership of the corporate account. Use only 
during incident response as directed by Silver Command. Display 
an informative pinned post and updated bio. 
 

3. Continue limited engagement. Continue using the X platform for 
major announcements and crisis communications but reduce 
routine campaign use through service accounts. This maintains a 
“light touch” presence. 

 

4. Status quo. Continue full use of X across corporate and service 
accounts. 

 
The recommended option for the Leader to consider is 2. 

 

Rationale  

 
35. The decision to no longer post content or engage on X is in 

response to changes to the algorithm, which drives council 
information to residents account feeds, and the end of independent 
fact-checking. This has led to a significant drop in engagement in 
council communications on the platform over the past year. 
 

36. Despite having 49,000 followers on the X account, impressions 
from X are now less than a fifth of City of York Council's Facebook 
impressions with less than a tenth of engagement compared to 
Facebook, a significant decline since 2022. 

 

Organisational Impact and Implications 
 

 Financial, There are no direct financial implications arising 
from this decision. Future campaigns may require adjusted 
targeting to ensure reach, but existing free channels (e.g., e-
newsletter, Facebook) will be prioritised. Any additional 
spend will be managed within existing budgets. 

 Human Resources (HR), There are no direct HR 
implications. However, internal guidance will be provided to 
services operating X accounts to support a smooth transition 
and ensure clarity around usage protocols. 

 Legal: In order to discharge its duty to warn and inform in an 
emergency situation, the Council should keep effective 
methods of citizen engagement under review. There is broad 

Page 17



Page 12 of 14 

discretion to use or not use different methods of 
communication including social media platforms provided 
that such decisions are based on sound evidence as to 
effectiveness and reach. 
 

 Procurement, contact: No implications identified. 

 Health and Wellbeing: Disinformation has a negative effect 
on health and wellbeing, with specific examples from the 
recent past being reducing vaccination uptake and reducing 
engagement with public health measures around infection 
control. These proposals are positive from a health and 
wellbeing perspective. 

 Environment and Climate action, No direct implications. 
The proposals support a more sustainable approach by 
focusing on digital channels already widely used by 
residents. 

 Affordability, By consolidating digital engagement onto 
higher-performing, cost-effective platforms, the approach 
may improve value for money and reduce reliance on 
underperforming channels. 

 Equalities and Human Rights, The data protection impact 
assessment (DPIAs) screening questions were completed for 
the recommendations and options in this report and as there 
is no personal, special categories or criminal offence data 
being processed to set these out, there is no requirement to 
complete a DPIA at this time. However, this will be reviewed 
following the approved recommendations and options from 
this report and a DPIA completed, if required.  

 Data Protection and Privacy: The data protection impact 
assessment (DPIAs) screening questions were completed for 
the recommendations and options in this report and as there 
is no personal, special categories or criminal offence data 
being processed to set these out, there is no requirement to 
complete a DPIA at this time. However, this will be reviewed 
following the approved recommendations and options from 
this report and a DPIA completed, if required.  

 Communications: This decision will require clear and 
proactive communication with residents, partners, and 
internal stakeholders. A communications plan is in place (see 
Annex A), including a public announcement, signposting to 
alternative channels, and internal briefings to support the 
transition. The shift also aligns with the Council’s 
commitment to inclusive, respectful, and trusted 

Page 18



Page 13 of 14 

engagement. The communications team will lead on 
implementation, supported by service leads.  

 Economy, No direct economic implications arise from the 
decision. Indirectly, maintaining clear and trusted 
communication supports business confidence and public 
trust in civic operations. 

 

Risks and Mitigations 
 
37.  
 
 

Risk Impact Mitigation 

Loss of access to 
established 
audience on X 
(49k followers) 

Reduced reach for 
some audiences, 
particularly during 
urgent 
communications 

Retain corporate X account 
for emergency use only, 
promoted through pinned 
message and bio; increase 
promotion of alternative 
channels such as the 
resident e-newsletter 

Potential 
reputational 
criticism for 
leaving a major 
platform 

Public perception 
that the Council is 
avoiding scrutiny or 
abandoning 
transparency 

Clear messaging strategy to 
explain rationale, align 
decision with Council values 
of inclusion and trust 

Impersonation or 
misuse of 
dormant account 

Residents misled by 
unofficial accounts 
posing as the 
Council 

Maintain ownership of 
@CityofYork handle, keep it 
verified and include a pinned 
message clarifying status 

Increased 
workload during 
transition 

Need to redirect 
followers and answer 
queries on other 
platforms 

Implement staged 
communications plan 
(Annex A), FAQs, and 
promote alternatives across 
all touchpoints 

Risk of over-
reliance on fewer 
platforms 

Vulnerability if other 
platforms also 
become problematic 

Channel review will inform a 
more resilient and diversified 
digital comms strategy 

 

Wards Impacted 
 
38. All 
 

Page 19



Page 14 of 14 

Contact details 
 
For further information please contact the authors of this Decision 
Report. 
 

 
Authors 
 

Name: Claire Foale / Jonathan Byrne 

Job Title: Chief Strategy Officer / Head of 
Communications and Engagement 

Service Area: Strategy / City Development 

Telephone: 01904 552057 

Report approved: Yes 

Date: 11/04/2025 

 
Specialist officers 
Frances Harrison, Head of Legal 
Matt Boxall, Head of Public Protection 
Jonathan Byrne, Head of Communications and Engagement 

 
Background papers 
 

Social media policy and process – City of York Council 

 

Annexes 
 

Annex A – Plan to cease using X, formerly known as Twitter 
Annex B – Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) 

Page 20

https://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/download/417/social-media-policy-and-process


1 | P a g e  
 

Annex A – Plan to cease using X, 

formerly known as Twitter 

Overview 

From 25/06/25, the City of York Council will cease using X (formerly 
Twitter) as a routine communications channel. This plan outlines the 
steps for managing the transition, mitigating risks, and promoting 
alternative channels. 

Corporate X Account 

 The @CityofYork account will remain open but will no longer be 
used for regular communications. 

 A message in the bio and a pinned post will state that the 
account is only used in the event of an incident, and not monitored 
otherwise. 

 The account will be retained to prevent impersonation, retain 
verification status, and enable use during emergencies at the 
direction of Silver Command. 

Council Service X Accounts 

 All other council-operated X accounts will be reviewed to 
assess: 

o Whether the account plays a role in incident 
communication. 

o Whether the account name could be misused by 
impersonators or scammers if released. 

 From 25/06/25: 
o All X accounts not meeting the above criteria will be 

deactivated. 
o Accounts with potential incident or impersonation risk will be 

retained but not used. 
 Officers responsible for these accounts will be contacted to confirm 

their status as part of internal communications. 

Elected Member Accounts 

Personal X accounts held by elected members remain out of scope for 
this plan and will continue to be used at their individual discretion. 

Page 21



2 | P a g e  
 

 

Transition Plan 

1. Give Notice 

 From 25/06/25, no further content will be posted from the 
@CityofYork account, unless authorised by Silver Command 
during an emergency. The account will also remain unmonitored, 
unless an emergency incident occurs. 

2. Redirect Users 

 All council communications will signpost followers (currently 
49k+) to alternative channels, including: 

o The council’s resident e-newsletter 
o Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn, and the council website 

 Signposting will be ongoing across all marketing and comms 
materials. 

3. Incident Response Readiness 

 The corporate emergency communications plan will be updated to: 
o Include X as an emergency-only channel. 
o Clarify the trigger process via Silver Command for 

activating the account. 
o Outline how X will be used alongside other rapid-response 

tools. 

 

Communications Plan 

4. Public Announcement 

 A press release will follow the Leader’s decision to confirm the 
council’s change of policy, rationale, and next steps. 

5. Promotion of Alternatives 

 A cross-channel campaign will run between the Executive 
Decision-Making Session date and 25/06/25, encouraging 
residents to: 

o Sign up to the e-newsletter. 
o Follow the council on other social platforms. 

Page 22



3 | P a g e  
 

o Update preferences through the council website. 

6. Channel Review 

 An ongoing channel review will identify the most effective ways to 
reach residents, businesses, and partners, with findings to be 
shared in future strategy updates. 

7. Exploring New Channels 

 The council will explore emerging platforms such as BlueSky and 
WhatsApp and assess their potential role in council 
communications. 

 Consideration will be given to audience demographics, 
functionality, trust, and reach. 

8. Internal Communications 

 All relevant teams and service leads will be briefed on the change, 
including instructions for reviewing their X accounts and confirming 
future status. 

9. Review and Evaluation 

 The impact of this change will be regularly monitored as part of 
the council’s ongoing communications evaluation process to 
ensure continued reach and engagement. 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



CYC DPIA screening checklist Feb 2025 – v4.0 
 

Data Protection Impact Assessment Screening Checklist  
 
To confirm whether a full DPIA is required please go through the below and tick any boxes that are relevant. 
 

Ref number:   

Name and Job title: Jonathan Byrne (Lorraine Lunt)  

Date: 10 April 2024  

Description - Explain broadly what you aim to achieve and what type of processing it involves. You may find it helpful to 
refer or link to other documents, such as a project proposal, business case etc.  

 
EDMS report - the benefits and challenges of the council continuing to use X, formerly known as Twitter.  It includes a plan to encourage residents to seek 
information from the remaining council channels and explains what will happen in the event of an incident, when the council has a duty to “warn and inform”.   
 
 
 
 

 
Are you:  
 

☐ starting a new (or reviewing an existing) project involving the use of personal data. 

 

Are you planning to carry out any  

 

☐ evaluation or scoring 

 

☐ automated decision-making with significant effects. 

 

☐ systematic monitoring. 

 

☐ processing of sensitive data or data of a highly personal nature 

P
age 25



CYC DPIA screening checklist Feb 2025 – v4.0 
 

 

☐ processing on a large scale 

 

☐ processing of data concerning vulnerable data subjects 

 

☐ innovative technological or organisational solutions 

 

☐ processing that involves preventing data subjects from exercising a right or using a service or contract. 

 

☐ profiling to make decisions about people 

 

☐ automated decision-making to make decisions about people 

 

☐ process special-category data or criminal-offence data 

 

☐ systematically monitor a publicly accessible place e.g. CCTV 

 

☐ use innovative technology * 

 

☐ use profiling to help make decisions on someone’s access to a service, opportunity, or benefit 

 

☐ use automated decision-making to help make decisions on someone’s access to a service, opportunity, or benefit 

 

☐ use special category data to help make decisions on someone’s access to a service, opportunity, or benefit 

 

☐ carry out profiling on a large scale 

 

☐ process biometric or genetic data * 

P
age 26



CYC DPIA screening checklist Feb 2025 – v4.0 
 

 

☐ combine, compare, or match data from multiple sources 

 

☐ process personal data without providing a privacy notice directly to the individual*  

 

☐ process personal data in a way that involves tracking individuals’ online or offline location or behaviour * 

 

☐ process children’s personal data for profiling or automated decision-making or for marketing purposes, or offer online 

services directly to them 
 

☐ process personal data that could result in a risk of harm in the event of a breach 

 

☐ a change to the nature, scope, context, or purposes of existing processing 

 
 
If you have ticked any of the boxes above, you must complete a full DPIA. Please contact 
information.governance@york.gov.uk  who will be able to advise and support you to do this  
 
If you have not ticked any of the boxes above, you are not required to complete a full DPIA. However, we must record all 
decision making regarding DPIA, so please send your completed screening questionnaire to 
information.governance@york.gov.uk 
 
*for information governance only – when advising or going through these points as part of the screening or full DPIA, note that 
these are “in combination with any of the criteria in the European guidelines” http://ec.europa.eu/newsroom/article29/item-
detail.cfm?item_id=611236 
 

P
age 27

mailto:information.governance@york.gov.uk
mailto:information.governance@york.gov.uk
http://ec.europa.eu/newsroom/article29/item-detail.cfm?item_id=611236
http://ec.europa.eu/newsroom/article29/item-detail.cfm?item_id=611236


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Plan for CYC to cease sharing information on X, formerly known as Twitter
	Annex A - no longer using X
	Annex B - 2025 04 10 DPIA screening for EDMS and use of X


